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The Old Executive Office Building

Just stop and look around you. If
you're in the Old Executive Office
Building, you’re in “Mr. Mullett's
architectural infant asylum,” ‘“The
- finest office building in Washington—
magnificent,” “Washington’s  worst
eyesore—the ugliest heritage of the
nineteenth century in America,” “An
epoch in American architecture,” “A
horrible example of . . . ‘American
ironic’,” or, originally, the State, War
and Navy Building. One of her
engineers stood back with pride after
her completion in 1888 and said, “She’s
plumb and she’s square and, boys, she’s
puny.n

The south wing was started in 1871
and completed in time for the State
Department to move in July 1, 1875.
The east wing was commenced in 1872
and completed seven years later, so that
on April 16, 1879, the War and Navy
Departments moved into that wing.
The west and center wings were the last
to be erected, work on them com-
mencing March 31, 1883 and being
completed January 31, 1888. When
other buildings were provided for the
War and Navy Departments, the
building was occupied by the State
Department. Congress at that time
changed its name to the Department of
State Building. The building presently
houses functions of the White House
Office, Office of the Vice President,
Office of Management and Budget, and
other agencies which are part of the
Executive Office of the President. It is
now called the “Old Executive Office
Building,”

This gray “birthday cake” has
celebrated more than one hundred
years as one of Washington’s most
controversial structures. The first criti-
cism came as early as 1874 soon after
the south wing began to display the
intricate detail of its French Renais-
sance style. In the official opinion of
the Justice Department, “The building
stands today as the grandest among
many other grand monuments of the
artistic taste and skill of its official
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designer.” It’s architect, A.D. Mullett,
used French Renaissance as a basis and
created (in one committee’s opinion) a
building that lends credit to the
Government, an ornament to the city
of Washington, and second in archi-
tectural importance and beauty to no
building in the United States. Mr.
Mullett, who was never paid for his
services, committed suicide and is said
to still haunt the halls of Congress
demanding his money.

Construction required 17 years
(1871-1888) and originally cost $10
million, doled out in grudging amounts
by Congress during the course of
building. Curiously enough, Congress
100k a paternal interest in its construc-
tion and for one of the very few times
in Executive-Legislative relationship
crossed that line between executive and
legislative to a greater degree of
closeness than was ever attempted or
permitted by either branch before or
since. The Executive seemed to wel-
come this solicitude as it aided in the
completion of the largest solid granite
building in the world.

This immense granite structure
epitomizes in many ways an epoch in
American architecture, The transitory

taste for French neo—classicism, fostered
by the Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris,
has few more striking expressions. Its
obvious lack of stylistic harmony with
other administrative buildings in
Washington has given rise to proposals
for remiodeling which, fortunately, have
been postponed indefinitely.

In this masonry building, the heavy
supporting walls have a use that is
lacking in the later Federal buildings
which are erected around steel cage
construction. The lower floors of the
exterior exemplify structural solutions
characteristic of the dawn of modern
building construction. A view of the
building from any angle presents a con-
fused impressionistic picture ‘of broken
lines and planes, of baroque gone
frantic. This complex effect is
produced by the broken lines of its
central and corner pavilions, extended
porches, towering chimneys, and
dormer windows. At the center of each
facade is a six-story pavilion,
approached by a broad flight of
colonnades. The four corner pavilions,
also designed with superimposed
colonnades, are adorned with small
one-story porches or loggias. The
numerous windows lining the walls



of the three principal floors are
crowned with hooded pediments.

As is the case with nearly all of the
Federal buildings in Washington, this
monumental facade was secured by
means of a scheme of interior courts
entailing, in this case, a total of two
miles of corridors.

The interior of the building is in the
taste of the period, the marble halls,
granite stairways with balusters of
bronze, and antiquated fixtures recal-
ling the grandeur of the 1870’s. The
immense and complex interior required
the services of a large force of scrub-
women to clean it nightly. In this con-
nection it is interesting to note that
during the Hayes Administration the
cleaning force conducted the first strike
of Federal employees. The occasion was
an attempt to introduce machine-
scrubbing equipment which worked
something like a bicycle. With the
machines, a dozen women could do the
work 80 had been doing. The strike was
successful.

All doors, window frames, trimming
and baseboards are cast iron, cast in a
foundry set up on the premises for that
purpose. Also, all marble was cut on
site. The only woodwork is in the
elevator (present partitions excepted),
window sashes, doors, and floors.
Walls are granite, 4' thick for outside
walls, 18" thick for inside walls. The
garden vases outside were designed by
a Captain Douglas MacArthur, sixth
superintendent of the building,

There are 1,134 inside doors. GSA
says these doors are not solid
mahogany, but instead they have an
oak core with a 174 to 12 inch
mahogany veneer. The brass door
knobs were cast on the premises and
represent the three original services of
the initial occupants; State, War, and
Navy. Knobs cost $25 each originally
and would cost $250 or more today to
replace. Hinges are also brass and
engraved, even on the inside. Staircase
balustrades are of intricately designed
oxidized bronze topped by a mahogany
handrail. (These hundreds of bronze

o
posts caused the mutiny of the
charwomen as well) A heavy brass
guardrail has been fastened as a
precaution against accidents.

Glass domes on the north and south
are designed like hugh stars. The two
center domes are large and elaborate,
On the east side, the dome covers two
stairwells and is of stained glass with
dark blue and red stars and blue stripes
on a field of white. There are 23
border designs encircling this dome.

The marble for the black and white
floor tiles was brought from Maine and
Richmond, Virginia. Dennis Johnson
of GSA points out that you can see the
fossils in the black tiles. He notes that
the white tiles have been scalloped out
from foot traffic, but the black tiles
didn’t begin to show wear until they
cracked under the spiked high-heels
women began wearing in the 30’s and
40’s. Mosaic tiles in the Old Library
and Indian Treaty Room were brought
from Italy and put in by Italian
laborers who came from Italy speci-
fically for that purpose. GSA craftsmen
have duplicated some of the tiles that
have needed to be replaced so that the
floors are in mint condition and some
of the most beautiful to be seen
anywhere.

The eight stairways of the building
swing gracefully from floor to floor
unsupported by beams or arches. Each
step is made of solid granite and the
stone is notched so that it fits over the
upper edge of the step beneath it. The
end of each step is tightly wedged 18
inches into the thick wall and forms a
cantilever construction. Should one step
give way, the whole staircase would fall.

Presidential press conferences, under
Truman and Eisenhower, were held in
the Indian Treaty Room on the fourth
floor—ornate with marble and bronze
and two stories high. No Indian
treaties were signed in the Indian
Treaty Room that have been docu-
mented. It is sometimes referred to as
the “cupid room™ because of the
winged bronze angels which support
light fixtures in each of the four

corners. Slabs of blackish marble are
embedded in the walls and framed like
pictures. Many legends abound about
the stones; “One of the stones is from
Solomon’s Temple,” “If you look at a
certain stone (not identified) at a given
point, light will radiate from it”;
“Pictures of Lincoln, Roosevelt and
scenes of American history are depicted
in the marble slabs.” None of these
legends has been authenticated. There
is one slab of marble with an
authenticated past of historical signifi-
cance. The serpentine marble over the
entry came from the ruins of Pompey
which were excavated in 1848.

The story (probably apocryphal) is
told of President Coolidge's reaction to
the building. He was reportedly given
a full tour of the office and made no
comment until he again reached the
front entrance. Then he asked one
question: “Is the building insured
against fire or earthquake?” When the
superintendent answered, “Of course,
Mr. President,” his only comment was,
“What a pity.” According to Mr.
Santos, exsuperintendent, no govern-
ment building is insured, on the
assumption that guards and safety
precautions are adequate and taxpayers
would pay for recomstruction anyway.
President Truman’s ironic but trenchant
opinion illustrates the next turning in
the evolution of the public’s attitude.
The Washington Star of April 4, 1958
quoted him as saying, “They’ve been
trying to tear this down for 20 years,
but I don’t want it torn down (with a
chuckle). I think it's the greatest
monstrosity in America.”

A newer trend is illustrated by a
commentary from an unidentified
source: “The proposal to replace the
Executive Office Building with another
functional building is a bit like
suggesting that the Egyptdans tear down
their unsightly pyramids and replace
them with modem efficient tomb-
stones.” I'm certain the comparison is
of structure not of use (tombs).

(Some excerpts taken from GSA
publications)

This article is reprinted from pEOPle, the monthly newsletter for the staff of the Executive Office of the President. October 1978

Revised January 1981
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LOG OF PRESIDENT REAGAN'S TAPINnGS: 1985 /ucu?b

January 7, 1985-- Audio only

Jan., 10-- A-V: RNC, "General Use Message"; National Association of T.V.

Program Executives; Audio-cnly, Radio Marathon for Ce erica Fund-
. » a a . *.——/)
£§Ei§§£i Inaugural taping for Committee; National Automobile Association)

Jan. 20-- Superbowl taping

Jan. 24-- A-V: U.S. i ittee; Food Processing Machinery and

Supplies Assoc.; L.A. Chamber of Commerce; National Religious Broadcasters;
International Amateur Athletic Assoc.

Jan. 29-- A-V: American Trucking Assoc.; G.U. International Relations

Assoc. (Model U.N.); Special Qlympics.

February 26,«1985-— A-V: Tribute to Walter Annenberg; JuveniigHDiabetes
Foundation; Assoc. of General Contractors; Japan Society Dinner; National
Red Cross; Japan Productivity Center :

March 2, 1985-- Audio only: Harden and Weaver

March 14-- A—Vr ‘Second Chance Opgan Donation Proqram, National Rifle

Assoc.; Texas Sesquicehtennial; §§;y§tlgg_ggmy¥ Young Republlcan National
Federation .
April 1, 1985-- A~V: Strong Memorial Hospital; Television Academy Hall

of Fame; Senator Pete Wilson; Adam Walsh Missing Children

April 17-- A~V: AnnualNational Gallery Andrew Mellon Dihner; "It's
Academic"; Armed Forces Day; Evangelical Press Assoc.; 173rd Airborn
Brigade

April 25, 1985-- A-V: Horatio Alger Assoc. of Distinguished Americans;
"A Tribute to Muhamed Ali"; Rresident's Council on Physical Fitness and
Sports; Council of a Black Economic¢ Agehda

May 15, 1985-- A-V: C(College Republicans National Committee;Close~-Up Foun-
datlon, WH News Photog. Assoc.; World Congress Otorhinolary; Paris, Air
Show; Cuban American National Assoc.

May 22-- Audio only: Cincinatti Reds

May 24th~- A-V: Christian-Jewish Meeting; World Games for the Deaf

June 13, 1985-- A-V: U.S. Savings Bonds Program; USIA Worldnet; %Qixg;;gg
Army; International Youth Congress; Baptist World Alliance; Right to Life;

Generic Independence Day Message
June 29-- Audio only: Osmond Family/July 4th message

July 9-- A-V: Edd Hargett; The Elks; Tribute to Volupnteers: National
Aviation Hall of Fame; Paralyzed Veterans of America; FBI National Academy
Retraining 50th Anniversary

September ‘6, 1985 A-V: President's Council on Physical Fitness; Tribute
to Greer Garson; American Heart Assoc; WH Conference on Small Business;




United Way; Unknown Soldier

Sept. 19-- A-V: Qperation Care and Share; American Portrait Series (CBS) ;
National Feyderation of Republican Women; Radio America; Thanksgiving
Armed Forces; Eagle Leadership Forum

Sept. 26-- A-V: Christmas Armed Forces message; DeMoss Foundation: "America
You're Too Young To Die"; Sen. Bob Packwood; Aaron Spelling; Bryce Harlow

Oct. 2-- A-V: Honolulu Councilmen; Magazine Publishers Association
Oct. 16-- A-V: Statue of Liberty; Wyatt Durrette; Iowa Homecoming '86

Oct. 31-- A-V: Navy League Dinner; Public Relations Society of America;
Ireland Fund/John Gavin

Nov. 6-- A-V: Ameri icer Society; King Hussein; WTTW 30th Anniversary

Nov. 15-- A-V: .Holidgy Thanksggiving and Christmas messages; Red Cross;
Ethics and Public Policy Center; WTVF Documentary on Aging —

Nov. 26-- A-V: National 4-H Council;-BeergeBupmeeeih

National Republican Conhgressional Committee; Coach Ralph McKinzig/Pn L&;ki
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